A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Shane Sayer Morgan appeals following a jury trial where he was 

found guilty of the following eight counts: second degree theft (count 1); 

second degree identity theft (counts 2, 5, 7); third degree theft (counts 3, 

4); and attempted third degree theft (counts 6, 8).   

Mr. Morgan first requests this Court reverse and dismiss with 

prejudice all of his convictions, because the evidence presented at trial was 

insufficient to convict him.  In the alternative, Mr. Morgan requests his 

convictions be reversed and remanded for a new trial because: (1) the trial 

court erred in instructing the jury on alternative means that are not 

contained in the charging document on counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8; (2) the trial 

court violated his right to a unanimous jury verdict on counts 1, 3, 4, 6, 

and 8; (3) the trial court erred by failing to give a unanimity instruction for 

second degree identity theft, as charged in count 2; and (4) he received 

ineffective assistance of counsel when defense counsel’s failed to object to 

the admission of Joshua Snyder’s police interview.   

At a minimum, Mr. Morgan requests the case be remanded for 

resentencing so Counts 5 and 7 can be counted as one crime (as same 

criminal conduct), and because his sentence exceeds the 60 month 

statutory maximum for the crimes.  Mr. Morgan also preemptively objects 

to any costs on appeal.    
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B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 

1.  The trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan guilty of counts 1-8, 

where the evidence was insufficient.   

 

2.  The trial court erred in instructing the jury on alternative means 

that are not contained in the charging document counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8.   

 

3.  The trial court violated Mr. Morgan’s right to a unanimous jury 

verdict on counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8.    

 

4. The trial court violated Mr. Morgan’s constitutional right to a 

unanimous jury verdict by failing to give a unanimity instruction for 

second degree identity theft, as charged in count 2.   

 

5.  Mr. Morgan was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective 

assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to object to the 

admission of Mr. Snyder’s police interview.  

 

6.  The trial court erred in failing to count counts 5 and 7 as “same 

criminal conduct” in calculating the offender score.  

 

  7.  The trial court erred in imposing a total term of confinement 

and community custody that exceeds the statutory maximum.   

 

8.  An award of costs on appeal against the defendant would be 

improper.   

 

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 

Issue 1:  Whether the trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan guilty 

of counts 1-8, where the evidence was insufficient.   

 

a.  Whether the trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan guilty of 

second degree theft (counts 1).   

 

b.  Whether the trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan guilty of 

third degree theft and attempted third degree theft (counts 3, 4, 6, 

8).   

 

c.  Whether the trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan guilty of 

second degree identity theft (counts 2, 5, 7). 
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Issue 2:  Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury on 

alternative means that are not contained in the charging document on 

counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8.   

 

a.  Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury on 

alternative means not contained in the charging document, for 

second degree theft and third degree theft (counts 1, 3, 4).   

 

b.  Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury on 

alternative means not contained in the charging document, for 

attempted third degree theft (counts 6, 8).   

 

Issue 3:  Whether the trial court violated Mr. Morgan’s right to a 

unanimous jury verdict on counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8.   

 

Issue 4:  Whether the trial court violated Mr. Morgan’s 

constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict by failing to give a 

unanimity instruction for second degree identity theft, as charged in count 

2.   

 

Issue 5:  Whether Mr. Morgan was denied his Sixth Amendment 

right to effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to 

object to the admission of Mr. Snyder’s police interview.  

 

Issue 6:  Whether the trial court erred in failing to count counts 5 

and 7 as “same criminal conduct” in calculating the offender score.  

 

  Issue 7:  Whether the trial court erred in imposing a total term of 

confinement and community custody that exceeds the statutory maximum.   

 

Issue 8:  Whether this Court should refuse to impose costs on 

appeal.  

 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Maureen Webb had a Chase Bank credit card.  (RP 89-90, 96).  On 

June 11, 2014, Maureen1 let her teenage daughter Elizabeth Webb use this 

                                                 
1 Because Maureen Webb and Elizabeth Webb have the same surname, they are 

referred to herein by their first names.  No disrespect is intended.   
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credit card to purchase gasoline for her car.  (RP 90, 96-97).  Elizabeth left 

work around 5:30 or 6:00 p.m., stopped and purchased gas, and went 

home.  (RP 97-98, 100).   

Maureen later received a text message from Chase Bank fraud 

protection, asking if she made a purchase at Fred Meyer in Ellensburg.  

(RP 90-92, 102).  Maureen then contacted Elizabeth, who informed 

Maureen she did not have the credit card.  (RP 91, 97).  Elizabeth had not 

gone to Fred Meyer in Ellensburg.  (RP 99).  Maureen called the police to 

report the credit card as stolen.  (RP 92-93).   

 City of Cle Elum Police Officer Jennifer Rogers worked with 

Maureen to obtain records for Maureen’s credit card from Chase Bank.  

(RP 102-104; Pl.’s Ex. 1).  From these records, Officer Rogers identified 

two approved transactions and two declined transactions at Fred Meyer.  

(RP 108-109).  Officer Rogers next requested video footage from Fred 

Meyer for these four transactions, and she received copies of three 

surveillance videos.  (RP 109-111; Pl. Exs. 2, 3, 4).  

The first surveillance video showed two men at a self-checkout 

kiosk, identified as Shane Morgan and Joshua Snyder.  (RP 111-112; Pl. 

Ex. 2).  The video shows Mr. Snyder (wearing black) scan two drinks; 

then Mr. Morgan (wearing gray) pushing some buttons on the kiosk; Mr. 
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Snyder sliding the credit card and putting it away; and each man grabbing 

a drink and walking away.  (RP 111; Pl. Ex. 2).   

The second surveillance video showed Mr. Snyder purchasing 

clothing and shoes at a check-out, with Mr. Morgan in the area.  (RP 112; 

Pl. Ex. 3).  Mr. Morgan does not help Mr. Snyder check out.  (Pl. Ex. 3).   

 The third surveillance video showed store personnel at a customer 

service counter, with no other individuals visible.  (RP 112; Pl. Ex. 4).    

Officer Rogers also obtained records from Fred Meyer for the four 

transactions.  (RP 113-119; Pl. Exs. 15-19).  There were four transactions 

using Maureen’s credit card: (1) a purchase of two drinks for $4.61 at a 

self-checkout kiosk; (2) a purchase of clothing and shoes for $538.92; (3) 

a declined transaction for the attempted purchase of an iPad for $538.92; 

and (4) a second declined transaction for the attempted purchase of an 

iPad for $538.92.  (RP 115-119, 139-140, 142, 181-182; Pl. Exs. 1, 15-

19).   

For the first declined transaction (3), the credit card was swiped at 

22:36:32, and the charge came through to the host credit card at 1:37:26 

a.m. eastern standard time, or 22:37:26 in Ellensburg. (RP 106-107, 140; 

Pl. Exs. 1, 17).  For the second declined transaction (4), the credit card 

was swiped at 22:36:54, and the charge came through to the host credit 

card at 1:37:47 a.m. eastern standard time, or 22:37:47 in Ellensburg.  (RP 
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106-107, 140; Pl. Exs. 1, 18, 19).  Both declined transactions occurred at 

the same cash register.  (Pl. Exs. 17, 18).   

Based on these events, the State charged Mr. Morgan, as a 

principal or an accomplice, with following eight counts2:  second degree 

theft (count 1); second degree identity theft (counts 2, 5, 7); third degree 

theft (counts 3, 4); and attempted third degree theft (counts 6, 8).3  (CP 

303-307).   

 The case proceeded to a jury trial.  (RP 51-324).  On the morning 

of trial, the State offered into evidence a police interview of Mr. Snyder, 

conducted by Officer Rogers.  (RP 61-64; Pl.’s Ex. 5).  In this interview, 

Mr. Snyder denied any involvement in, or having any knowledge of, the 

incidents in question.  (RP 122-132; Pl.’s Ex. 5).  Defense counsel 

objected to the admission of the interview, questioning its relevance.  (RP 

62).  The State told the trial court he would talk to defense counsel and 

find out what the objections to the interview are, and also told the trial 

court that he may be able to address defense counsel’s concerns and reach 

an agreement.  (RP 63-64).   

                                                 
2 The State also charged Mr. Morgan with eight additional counts (counts 9-16 

in the third amended Amended Information), but he was acquitted of these charges.  (CP 

307-311, 388-395; RP 320-321).  Therefore, these charges are not part of this appeal.  
3 For ease of reference, the (third) Amended Information is attached as 

Appendix A.   
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At trial, the Chase Bank records, the Fred Meyer records, and the 

three surveillance videos were admitted as exhibits.  (Pl.’s Ex. 1-4, 15-19).   

Witnesses testified consistent with the facts stated above.  (RP 89-

203).  In addition, Maureen testified she did not make any of the charges 

on the date in question.  (RP 93-94).  She testified she did not give Mr. 

Snyder or Mr. Morgan permission to possess or use her credit card.  (RP 

94-95).  

Elizabeth testified she remembers putting the credit card in her 

wallet, like she always does after she uses it at a gas pump, “so it could 

been someone went into my car and grabbed it, or I could have dropped 

it.”  (RP 98).  She testified she did not give Mr. Snyder or Mr. Morgan 

permission to possess or use Maureen’s credit card.  (RP 98-99).    

During Officer Rogers’ testimony, prior to the trial testimony of 

Mr. Snyder, the State offered Mr. Snyder’s police interview into evidence, 

and defense counsel did not object.  (RP 121-132; Pl.’s Ex. 5).  The oral 

interview was played for the jury.  (RP 121-132).  At the end of the 

interview, Mr. Snyder answered “yes” to Officer Rogers’ question, “[d]o 

you hereby declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 

Washington that the statement you have just provided is true and correct . . 

. .”  (RP 131-132; Pl.’s Ex. 5).   
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Fred Meyer Loss Prevention Specialist Perry Lomax testified he 

was contacted by Officer Rogers regarding the transactions made with 

Maureen’s credit card.  (RP 136-138).  He testified he provided Officer 

Rogers with the three surveillance videos.  (RP 140-141; Pl. Ex. 2, 3, 4).  

Mr. Lomax testified by viewing other surveillance camera footage, he was 

able to track Mr. Snyder and Mr. Morgan “[f]or the most part” in the store.  

(RP 141).  He testified the two men first went to the apparel register; then 

went briefly back through the apparel department; then through the main 

part of the store “together walk[ed] to the cold beverage coolers, where the 

check . . . lanes are, grab[bed] a small cold beverage, r[a]ng it up through 

U-scan, walk[ed] through the front of the store”; and then came back in 

the store and attempted to purchase an iPad from the photo-electronics 

department, and exited the store.  (RP 142, 154-155, 160).   

From his viewing of the store video, Mr. Lomax testified “when 

they bought the . . . small drink item, it looks as though they both rang in 

the item, where one gentleman swiped the card and the other gentleman 

pushed the buttons on the PIN pad, and then picked up said drink[.]”  (RP 

160).  He testified he could not see how many times the other gentleman 

pushed the buttons on the PIN pad.  (RP 162-163).  Mr. Lomax testified 

“it didn’t seem like [the two men] they ever split up.”  (RP 160).   
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Mr. Lomax testified Fred Meyer was paid by the credit card 

company for the items purchased, so the store did not lose any money.  

(RP 161).   

Mr. Snyder pleaded guilty to offenses related to this incident prior 

to trial, and testified for the State.  (RP 169-203).  He testified he found a 

credit card sitting on top of a gas pump, and he took the credit card for his 

own use.  (RP 175-177).  Mr. Snyder testified that after he took the credit 

card, he went and picked up Mr. Morgan, and the two of them went to 

Fred Meyer in Ellensburg.  (RP 172-175, 177-181).  He admitted he 

purchased two drinks with the credit card at a self-checkout kiosk.  (RP 

181-182, 189, 197).  He testified he then went shopping, and that Mr. 

Morgan was in the store, and at times they were together.  (RP 182-183, 

185).  Mr. Snyder admitted he purchased clothing and shoes using the 

credit card.  (RP 183, 197).  He testified he does not remember trying to 

purchase an iPad.  (RP 186-187).   

Mr. Snyder testified Mr. Morgan did not know the credit card he 

used at Fred Meyer was not his card.  (RP 197, 199).  He testified Mr. 

Morgan would have no reason to question it, because Mr. Snyder was 

driving a brand new Jeep and had been working.  (RP 197).  When asked 

why Mr. Morgan pushed the buttons on the PIN pad at the self-checkout 

kiosk, Mr. Snyder testified he did not exactly recall, but that maybe he was 
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not able to operate the machine, because he usually goes to a cashier rather 

than the self-checkout.  (RP 199, 201).   

Defense counsel proposed a jury instruction defining theft as “to 

wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or 

services or another, or the value thereof, with intent to deprive that person 

or such property or services[,]” as charged in the information.  (CP 155, 

304-307).  Defense counsel objected to the State’s proposed jury 

instruction defining theft on the basis that it contained all three definitions 

of theft, rather than only the one type of theft charged in the information.  

(CP 228, 304-307; RP 225-237).  The trial court overruled the objection 

and gave the State’s proposed jury instruction:  

Theft means to wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized 

control over the property or services of another, or the 

value thereof, with intent to deprive that person of such 

property or services or by color or aid of deception, to 

obtain control over the property or services of another, or 

the value thereof, with intent to deprive that person of such 

property or services or to appropriate lost or misdelivered 

property or services of another, or the value thereof, with 

intent to deprive that person of such property or services. 

 

(CP 228, 328; RP 266).   

 Defense counsel also objected to the State’s proposed 

corresponding jury instructions defining “by color or aid of deception” and 

“appropriate lost or misdelivered property or services.”  (CP 230-232; RP 
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226-235).  The trial court overruled the objections and gave the requested 

instructions.  (CP 230-232, 330-332; RP 234, 267).   

Defense counsel proposed to-convict jury instructions for second 

degree theft (count 1) and third degree theft (counts 3, 4) that only 

included the one type of theft charged in the information.  (CP 162, 169, 

304-307).  Defense counsel objected to the State’s proposed to-convict 

jury instructions for second degree theft (count 1) and third degree theft 

(counts 3, 4), on the basis that they contained all three definitions of theft, 

rather than only the one type of theft charged in the information.  .  (CP 

236, 244, 304-307; RP 235-237, 239).  The trial court overruled the 

objections and gave the requested to-convict instructions.  (CP 236, 244, 

336, 343; RP 236-237, 268-269, 272-273).   

Defense counsel did not objected to the State’s proposed to-convict 

jury instructions for second degree identity theft (counts 2, 5, 7) and 

attempted third degree theft (counts 6, 8), and the trial court gave the 

requested instructions.  (CP 240, 246, 340, 345; RP 239-240, 271, 273-

274).  The trial court instructed the jury that in order to convict Mr. 

Morgan of attempted third degree theft, it had to find the following 

elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

1) That on or about June 11, 2014, the defendant did an act 

that was a substantial step toward the commission of Theft 

in the Third Degree;  
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2) That the act was done with the intent to commit Theft in 

the Third Degree; and 

3) That the act occurred in the State of Washington.  

 

(CP 345).   

The trial court also instructed the jury on accomplice liability.  (CP 

326; RP 265-266).    

In its closing argument, the State argued that Mr. Snyder was not a 

credible witness.  (RP 294-295).  The State asked the jury, “[w]ere his 

statements even consistent with his own statements[?]” (RP 295).   

The jury found Mr. Morgan guilty of all eight counts.  (CP 380-

387; RP 319-320).   

At sentencing, defense counsel argued the four felony convictions 

(counts 1, 2, 5, 7) are the same criminal conduct.  (CP 537-541; RP 347, 

353-357, 360).  After hearing argument, the trial court took the matter 

under advisement.  (RP 366).  The next day, the trial court issued a letter 

ruling regarding sentencing.  (CP 590-591).  The court ruled that the four 

felony convictions were not same criminal conduct, stating “each use of 

the credit card was a distinctive act that furthered a different, distinct 

criminal purpose.”  (CP 590).   

  The trial court imposed a sentence of 57 months confinement and 

12 months of community custody.  (CP 551-552, 591).  The judgment and 

sentence includes the following notation: “[n]ote: combined term of 
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confinement and community custody for any particular offense cannot 

exceed the statutory maximum.”  (CP 552).   

The trial court imposed restitution to Chase Bank, in the amount of 

the two transactions made at Fred Meyer.  (CP 544-545, 553).   

The trial court asked Mr. Morgan “if there’s anything that prevents 

him from working[,]” and Mr. Morgan responded that mental health issues 

prevent him from working, and that he has been receiving social security 

benefits for approximately six months.  (RP 370).   

The Judgment and Sentence contains the following boilerplate 

language:  

2.5   Legal Financial Obligations/Restitution.  The court 

has considered the total amount owing, the defendant’s 

present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, 

including the defendant’s financial resources and the 

likelihood that the defendant’s status will change.   

 

(CP 550).     

 The Judgment and Sentence also contains the following boilerplate 

language:  “[a]n award of costs on appeal against the defendant may be 

added to the total legal financial obligations.”  (CP 554).   

 Mr. Morgan timely appealed.  (CP 564).  The trial court entered an 

Order of Indigency, granting Mr. Morgan a right to review at public 

expense.  (CP 572-573).  
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E.  ARGUMENT 

Issue 1:  Whether the trial court erred in finding Mr. Morgan 

guilty of Counts 1-8, where the evidence was insufficient.   

 

In every criminal prosecution, due process requires that the State 

prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, every fact necessary to constitute the 

charged crime.  In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. 

Ed. 2d 368 (1970).  Where a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the 

evidence, the proper inquiry is “whether, after viewing the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 

829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 

P.2d 628 (1980)).  “[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be 

drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the 

defendant.”  Id.  (citing State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 

1136 (1977)).  Furthermore, “[a] claim of insufficiency admits the truth of 

the State’s evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn 

therefrom.”  Id. (citing State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 

1254 (1980)).   

 “Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally 

reliable.”  State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).  

Circumstantial evidence “is sufficient if it permits the fact finder to infer 

the finding beyond a reasonable doubt.”   State v. Askham, 120 Wn. App. 
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872, 880, 86 P.3d 1224, 1228 (2004) (citing State v. King, 113 Wn. App. 

243, 270, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002)).  The appellate court “defer[s] to the trier 

of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the 

persuasiveness of the evidence.”  Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874-875.   

Sufficient means more than a mere scintilla of evidence; there must 

be that quantum of evidence necessary to establish circumstances from

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