**FILED**

OCT 04, 2016  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

No. 33987-4-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION III

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
Respondent,

v.

SHANE SAYER MORGAN,  
Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF  
KITITAS COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Superior Court No. 15-1-00072-1

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

GREGORY L. ZEMPEL  
Kittitas County Prosecuting Attorney

Erika George, WSBA No. 43871  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Kittitas County Prosecuting Attorney  
205 West Fifth Street, Suite 213  
Ellensburg, WA 98926  
(509) 962-7022

**

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

### **C. ARGUMENT**

#### **1. There was sufficient evidence to convict the Defendant.**

“The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the jury’s verdict, any rational jury could find the essential elements of a

crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. McCreven*, 284 P.3d 793, 809, 170 Wn.App.444 (2012) (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 159 Wn.App. 766, 744, 247 P.3d 11(2011) (internal citations omitted).

A sufficiency review is a limited inquiry which addresses whether “the government’s case was so lacking that it should not have even been submitted to the jury.” *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 16, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed 2d 1(1978). A narrow sufficiency review does not override the jury’s role concerning how the jury weighs the evidence or what inferences they draw from evidence. *Musacchio v. United States*, 577 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 709, 193 L.Ed.2d 639 (2016). The Supreme Court outlines that a reviewing court on a sufficiency of the evidence review has a narrow role, where they make a “*limited* inquiry tailored to ensure that a defendant receives the minimum that due process requires: a ‘meaningful opportunity to defend’ against the charge against him and a jury finding of guilt ‘beyond a reasonable doubt; and that a “sufficiency challenge is for the court to make a ‘legal’ determination whether the evidence was strong enough to reach a jury at all” *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 314-319, 99 S.Ct.2781, 61 L.Ed. 2d 560 (1979)).

Washington case law follows suit. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn. 2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) explains that the job of the court when conducting a sufficiency review is not to “reweigh the evidence and substitute judgment” but rather “because [the jury] observed the witnesses

testify first hand, we defer to the jury's resolution of conflicting testimony, evaluation of witness credibility, and decisions regarding the persuasiveness and the appropriate weight to be given to the evidence."

All reasonable inferences that could be made from the evidence "must be drawn in favor of the verdict and interpreted strongly against the defendant." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). The "jury is the sole and exclusive judge of the evidence." *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 709, 974 P.2d 832 (1999).

When conducting a sufficiency of the evidence review, the only question should be if there was enough evidence to send to the jury; it is not the job of the reviewing court to make determinations on the evidence. See *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn.App.444, 284 P.3d 793(2012); *State v. Johnson*, 159 Wn.App. 766, 247 P.3d 11(2011); *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 974 P.2d 832 (1999); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn.App.410, 824 P.2d 533 (1992); *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 314-315 (1979).

**a. There was sufficient evidence to support convictions for Theft in the Second Degree (count 1)**

A person is guilty as an accomplice if, "with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of a crime, he solicits, commands, encourages, or requests the person to commit it; or aids or agrees to aid

such other person in planning or committing it” RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a).

The to convict instruction for Theft in the Second Degree as instructed in this case are as follows:

- 1) That on or about June 11, 2014, the defendant
  - a. Wrongfully obtained or exerted unauthorized control over property of another; or
  - b. By color or aid of deception, obtained control over property of another; or
  - c. Appropriated lost or misdelivered property of another; and
- 2) That the property was an access device
- 3) That the defendant intended to deprive the other person of the access device; and
- 4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington (CP 336)

There was no evidence that the defendnat was not present when the card was obtained. Mr. Snyder did testify that he picked up the defendant after he took the credit card; however, it is up to the jury to determine the credibility of a witness.

Further, it was Mr. Snyder’s testimony that the defendant did not know he had the card. During direct examination, it was the clear the State was directing his questions to attach the credibility of this testimony. The State asked how long Mr. Snyder and the defendant had been friends – to which Mr. Snyder answered roughly ten years (VRP 171). This was different than what Mr. Snyder told Officer Rogers during his initial interview. Following up, the State asked Mr. Snyder what kinds of things they did together when they hung out, and specifically how many times in that ten year friendship they had ever gone shopping together – to which

Mr. Snyder answer “once.” (VRP 172). The night they went to Fred Meyer and used Maureen Webb’s credit card. Mr. Snyder went on to testify that he just randomly decided to go pick up the defendant and they randomly decided to go to Fred Meyer and shop together, even though they had never done that before, and that the defendant didn’t know the card wasn’t his.

A sufficiency review is not intended to re-weigh the evidence, to resolve conflicting testimony, to evaluate credibility of witnesses, or to make decisions regarding the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-416, 824 P.2d. 533 (1992). Rather, the jury is the “sole and exclusive judge of the evidence.” *State v. Johnson*, 159 Wn.App.766 at 774.

Here, the jury clearly could have decided that Mr. Snyder wasn’t credible when he testified that the defendant didn’t know about the card and that having the card didn’t play a role in determining their decision to go shopping at Fred Meyer.

To exert unauthorized control means “having any property or services in one’s possession, custody, or control, and to secrete, withhold, or appropriate the same to his or her own use or to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto.” (CP 314-371; WPIC 79.02). The jury could determine that when the defendant and Mr. Snyder made the decision to use the card they both were exerting unauthorized

control of the card.

**b. There was sufficient evidence to support convictions for Theft in the Third Degree theft and Attempted Theft in the Third Degree (counts 3,4,6,8)**

“Theft” means:

- a) to wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or services; or
- b) by color or aid of deception to obtain control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or services; or
- c) to appropriate lost or misdelivered property or services or another, or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or services. RCW 9A.56.020(1)

The appellant argues that the defendant could not have committed Theft in the Third Degree or Attempted Theft in the Third Degree because there was no intent to deprive Fred Meyer of the “property or services.” The appellant relies on *State v. Graham*, 182 Wn.App. 180, 327 P.3d. 717 (2014), in arguing that the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of “the” charge by the trial court. Importantly, that charge was Trafficking in Stolen Property.

The issue in *Graham* is different than the issue at hand. *Graham* deals with whether or not taking an item from the shelf and then taking it directly to the customer service and claiming it was purchased earlier and asking for a gift card is trafficking in stolen property. That is not analogous to the case at hand. Interestingly, *Graham* specifically states that the defendant’s actions amount to theft, and not trafficking in stolen property.

The *Graham* court states that “since the merchandise was not “stolen” when brought to the customer service counter, . . . did not amount to trafficking in stolen property.” *Graham* at 185. Further, *Graham* holds that “She did not intend to deprive Walmart of those items; rather, her intent was to obtain their value. Rather than trafficking in stolen property, her actions amount to theft.” They reach the same analysis that using that gift card she fraudulently obtained to purchase an item, and then returning the item – still doesn’t constitute trafficking in stolen property – but *it does* amount to theft. The concept and analysis that because payment was offered means there was no intent to deprive fails when applying that concept to theft – because the payment was offered fraudulently and without permission, offered for the only intent to obtain the items or value of the items without themselves having to pay for it.

The appellant uses the analogy of purchasing something with stolen cash from a neighbor. That isn’t what happened here. Just because fraudulent payment was offered does not mean there was no intent to deprive.

The appellant wrongfully adds “Fred Meyer” to the to-convict instructions, when in reality, the instructions read “wrongfully obtained or exerted unauthorized control over property of another or the value thereof not exceeding \$750 in value.” (emphasis added) (CP 314-371; WPIC 70.11).



It is not the jury's job to determine who is owed restitution. It was not an element that the jury had to determine that it was the intent to deprive Fred Meyer and only Fred Meyer or the items or value of the items.

The intent of the defendant was to deprive another of the items or the value of the items, because the defendant was offering payment fraudulently.

**c. There was sufficient evidence to support convictions for Identity Theft in the Second Degree (counts 2,5,7)**

While it is true that “mere presence is not enough for criminal liability” *In re Wilson*, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491-492, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979). But, “to support conviction of a defendant as an accomplice, there must be evidence that he was ‘ready to assist’ or intended to encourage the conduct of his coparticipant” *State v. Lozier*, 32 Wn. App. 376, 378, 647 P.2d 535 (1982) quoting *In re Wilson* at 491; *State v. Aiken*, 72 Wn.2d 306, 349, 434 P. 2d 10 (1967).

In the case at hand there was testimony and surveillance footage of the defendant helping Mr. Snyder check out by participating in the process and hitting buttons in an effort to assist with the check-out (VRP 160). This is clear evidence that the defendant was “ready to assist.” It was not simply mere presence.

There was also testimony that on the surveillance they were

tracked throughout the store together, and specifically Loss Prevention Officer Lomax testified that the two were shopping for mens apparel together, using the same cart, and checking out with one transaction (VRP 160). A jury could determine on this testimony that the two were acting together.

Again, it is not the reviewing Court's duty to reweigh the evidence and substitute any judgment for that of the jury. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216 at 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Rather, the jury observed the witnesses testify first hand, viewed the evidence first hand, and it is up to the jury to resolve conflicting testimony, evaluate the credibility of the witnesses, and make decisions regarding the persuasiveness and the appropriate weight to be given the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn.App. 410, at 415-16.

It is clear the jury did not believe that the defendant did not know the credit card was stolen. It is very strange that Mr. Snyder would need help checking out – that he wouldn't know how to use his own card. They did not find Mr. Snyder's testimony credible – and there was other evidence presented that is sufficient to determine that the defendant was participating.

The defendant was ready to assist when he helped in the transaction, as well as participating in the shopping.

Mr. Lomax testified that he was able to track them together, throughout the store, through the self checkout, the electronics department

where they attempted to purchase an iPad twice, and the clothing department. He specifically said that “it didn’t seem like they ever split up” (VRP 160). This testimony, along with the other evidence of participation, supports accomplice liability for all the transactions – the clothing, the self checkout, and the two declined attempted iPad purchases.

2. The court did not err in instructing on alternative means on counts 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8

The defendant correctly points out that “one cannot be tried for an uncharged offense” *State v. Chino*, 117 Wn. App. 531, 540, 72 P.3d 256 (2003). The analysis behind this concept is that the information must put the defendant on notice of the alternative means of committing the crime. *In re Pers. Restraint of Brockie*, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498 (2013).

In the case at hand, the prosecution put the defendant on notice of the alternative means when the discussion to orally amend the information took place during the jury instruction conference.

The State indicated that they wanted to include the alternative means of committing theft in the to convict instructions. (VRP 229). The defense objected, based on the fact they weren’t in the information. The State argued about why the alternative means can be given, including requesting to orally amend the information. The Court even commented “we’ve already had four amendments to the information.” (VRP 234). The

Court further commented “we could amend the information again” *Id.* Further, the Court decided to instruct on all the alternative means rather than amending the information, even though the State orally indicated they could amend the information.

Because the State sought to orally amend the information based on the evidence that came out during testimony, the defense was properly put on notice that the alternative means of committing the theft were in play. The Court never denied amending the information – there was never a ruling on the amending the information. Instead, the Court gave the full WPIC, which included the alternative means, creating effectively an amended information – because “it’s all the same.” (VRP 234). The court meant that it was all the same whether the information was orally amended or the instruction was given – because at that point the defendant was on notice.

Because the defendant was on notice, and the State sought to orally amend the information, the jury instructions did not wrongfully instruct on uncharged offenses.

3. The court did not violate the right to a unanimous jury verdict on counts 1,3,4,6, and 8

In an alternative means case, “jury unanimity as to the means used to commit the crime is not required if there is substantial evidence to support each of the alternative means.” *State v. Linehan*, 147 Wn.2d 638,

645, 56 P. 3d 542 (2002).

Here, there was substantial evidence that could sustain a finding as to each alternative mean.

The first means is to wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control. In this case, the victim never gave anyone permission to use the card, so using the card is exerting unauthorized control.

The second means is by color or aid of deception. Here, the defendant and Mr. Snyder presented the card at Fred Meyer as if it was their own. That is deception, because they were deceiving in the fact that they were pretending that they had the right to use the card when they did not. Here, the cashiers relied solely on the deception that the credit card was their own card to use – otherwise, the purchase would not have been allowed. If the defendant had attempted to buy something at Fred Meyer, but indicated it was not his card, he just found it, the purchase would not have been allowed. The deception was relied upon in order to allow the transactions to be completed.

Third and finally, appropriating lost or misdelivered property of another. Here, that is exactly what Mr. Snyder testified that he did – that he found the card at the gas station and used it.

Because there is substantial evidence to convict on all three alternative means, a unanimity instruction is not required. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 410, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

4. The court did not violate the right to a unanimous jury verdict by failing to give a unanimity instruction for Identity Theft in the Second Degree

“An alternative means crime is one that provide[s] that the proscribed criminal conduct may be proved in a variety of ways.” *State v. Butler*, 194 Wn.App. 525, 528, 374 P.3d 1232 (2016) quoting *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn.2d 763, 769, 230 P.3d 588 (2010); *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 784, 154 P.3d 873 (2007). There is no bright line rule for making the determination of whether or not a crime is considered an alternate means crime. *State v. Butler* at 528. “Merely stating methods of committing a crime in the disjunctive does not mean that there are alternative means of committing a crime. *Id.* quoting *State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn. App. 233, 240-241, 311 P.3d 61 (2013).

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